
1

**************************************************************************************************

DACORUM BOROUGH COUNCIL

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT

28 NOVEMBER 2019

**************************************************************************************************

Present:

MEMBERS:

Councillors C Wyatt-Lowe (Chair), Riddick (Vice-Chairman), Beauchamp, Oguchi, 
McDowell, Uttley, Woolner, Hobson, R Sutton and Stevens

OFFICERS:

F Bogle (Team Leader - Development Management), J Doe (Assistant Director - 
Planning, Development and Regeneration), R Herbert (Assistant Team Leader - 
Development Management), C Simmonds (Legal Governance Team Leader), N Sultan 
(Lead Litigation Lawyer), S Whelan (Group Manager - Development Management and 
Planning), N Gough (HCC), L Johnson (Trees & Woodlands Team Leader) and C 
Webber (Corporate & Democratic Support Officer)(Minutes)

The meeting began at 7.00 pm

303  MINUTES

The minutes of the meeting held on 7 November were confirmed by the Members 
present and were then signed by the Chairman.

304  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Guest, Durrant, Symington and 
Maddern.

Councillor Stevens substituted for Councillor Symington.

305  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Councillor Wyatt-Lowe asked Members to remember to declare any Disclosable 
Pecuniary or other Interests at the beginning of the relevant planning application.

Councillor Hobson stated that she had been invited to a meeting of WHAG and that 
she had attended but not participated and that she would be approaching the 
application with an open mind.

306  PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

Councillor Wyatt-Lowe reminded Members and the public about the rules regarding 
public participation as follows:



2

For each application the officer presents the report to the Committee, then the 
participants from the public are called to speak. Following this, questions are taken 
from the Committee along with statements and comments for debate.

Councillor Wyatt-Lowe stated that Councillor Durrant had wished to speak on behalf of 
residents, however could not due to procedural matters.

Councillor Adeleke had wished to speak on behalf of residents, however due to a 
misunderstanding could not. Councillor Wyatt-Lowe noted that Councillor Adeleke’s 
objections had been submitted in written form and had been included in the 
Addendum.

Councillor Allen had also wished to speak on behalf of residents, however as the 
application site did not fall in his Ward he was unable to.

307  5a - 4/03266/18/MFA - Hybrid planning application for mixed use 
development at west Hemel Hempstead, pursuant to policy LA3 of 
the adopted site allocations development plan document (2017) to 
provide for up to 1100 dwellings (with up to 40% affordable 
housing), comprising full planning proposals for 350 dwellings 
and outline planning proposals (including means of access) for 
750 dwellings. The application proposes the development of up to 
1100 new dwellings (including affordable housing), land for up to 
seven pitch gypsy traveller sites, together with landscaping, 
roads, footpaths and cycleways, ecological mitigation, 
sustainable drainage systems, earthworks, public open space, 
one neighbourhood equipped area of play (NEAP), two locally 
equipped areas of play (LEAP) and a community games area 
(CGA). A site for a primary school and associated nursery with 
playing fields on site of up to 2.1 hectares (inc. cga), specialist 
accommodation for the elderly with up to 70 rooms (C2 or C3), a 
convenience store of up to 450 sq. m (A1), three retail units each 
of which would be up to 100 sq.m (A1, A2, A3, A4 and A5), a 
community facility of up to 175 sq.m (D1), a medical facility or 
other use of up to 100 sq.m (A1, C3 and D1), a children’s day 
nursery of up to 450 sq.m (D1), a shared car park. The full 
application details which are submitted comprise of - a new 
vehicular access to Long Chaulden, a new vehicular access 
extension from The Avenue, emergency access to Chaulden Lane, 
new vehicular access from Chaulden Lane serving only the land 
for up to a seven pitch gypsy and traveller site and access to a 
foul drainage pumping station, a foul drainage pumping station to 
Chaulden Lane and the associated connecting sewer, the creation 
of the first phase of 350 new dwellings and associated 
landscaping (including affordable housing); together with 
associated public open space and associated landscaping, roads, 
footpaths and cycleways, ecological mitigation, sustainable 
drainage systems, earthworks, and one associated Local 
Equipped Area of Play (LEAP)

LA3, LAND AT WEST HEMEL HEMPSTEAD

James Doe, Assistant Director of Planning, Development and Regeneration introduced 
the application.



3

He said good evening to the Chairman and Members.

James Doe said that there was a lot to get through so he would be brief.

He said that as Members would know, this was a very significant development for 
Hemel Hempstead. In terms of the number of new homes proposed and the land area 
covered, it represented the largest expansion of the town since the last major 
neighbourhood area – Woodhall Farm – was built in the 1970s. 

The proposal to expand Hemel Hempstead to the west through the LA3 area went 
back to the early part of the decade when the Council was preparing its development 
plan for the Borough, the Core Strategy. The definitive development plan itself went 
through extensive public consultation and a public examination, before it was adopted 
by the Borough Council in 2013. 

The site received further scrutiny through the Site Allocations Development Plan 
Document which was adopted as formal policy in 2017. The adoption of the document 
confirmed its removal from the Green Belt and paved the way for planning application 
proposals to come forward, the results of which were before Members. 

A masterplan for the site, which involved engagement with the local community, was 
adopted by the Council in July 2017. 

The site had therefore been for a number of years Council policy as a key part of its 
plans to increase the housing supply in Dacorum and meet housing needs. As the 
Council was entering the next phase of development planning – with a new Local Plan 
scheduled for publication the following year, and with the level of local housing need 
increasing substantially, it was imperative that the sites that it had already confirmed 
as suitable for development in adopted policy were delivered. 

The planning application under consideration was submitted to the Council in late 
December 2018. 

The report before Members comprised the outcome of extensive negotiations between 
their officer team and the applicants over the past eleven months, and a high level of 
public engagement as the responses in the report and its appendices demonstrated. 

In doing so, consultation had been carried out in accordance with the Council’s 
adopted policy – the Statement of Community Involvement – and had gone beyond its 
requirements through meetings with the West Hemel Action Group, Bourne End 
Village Association and the Dacorum Environmental Forum. 

Officers were happy to confirm that the proposals complied with the policies adopted 
by the Council. 

There had been a number of objections relating to the scale of the development at 
1100 new homes plus the proposed care home in the second phase of the scheme, in 
that it went beyond the 900 homes contemplated in the Core Strategy. 

That in itself did not conflict with adopted policies, which make it clear that 900 homes 
was not a maximum. The applicants had proposed a higher level and this had to be 
considered, and their role was to determine whether this was acceptable in relation to 
material planning factors including the layout and design of the scheme, its 
environmental impact and traffic and transport considerations, to name a few.



4

Officers had determined that taking all factors into account, the scheme was 
acceptable and brought with it a number of significant benefits to the community. 

Ross Herbert would be going through the key aspects of the scheme.

The pressures on Dacorum for new housing are very high, which means that they 
must make the best use of the land that they have available for development, given 
that their main settlements were constrained by the Green Belt. The Officers 
concluded that the additional development proposed than originally anticipated was a 
positive outcome in helping to meet pressing housing needs and reducing the pressure 
on Green Belt in the future. 

Through the progress of the application Officers had negotiated a package of 
community benefits which now had the agreement of the applicants. 

These include: 

 40% of the new homes to be affordable – complying with policy
 A new two-form entry primary school to the value sought by the County 

Council, valued at £8.9m and the land at nil cost 
 Contributions to the County Council for temporary schooling accommodation in 

the early stages of the development
 Further contributions to the County Council for additional school capacity 

beyond 2FE to meet additional expected demand for a seven year period
 Contributions of £850,000 to the County Council for supporting bus services 

into the site
 The required contribution sought by Herts Valleys CCG to expand Parkwood 

Drive Surgery to meet added demand as a result of the development. 
 A package of off-site highway improvements at key junctions on the western 

side of the town. 

Furthermore, the scheme will bring with it: 

 A new community hub with local shopping, a child care nursery and community 
hall

 Extensive new areas of open space and play areas
 A range of sustainability features including sustainable drainage systems

With all this, delivery of much of these items will be subject to appropriate triggers in 
the s106 agreement with the applicants to ensure they are provided, and at the right 
times.

James Doe said that in the short introduction it was not possible to cover all aspects of 
the proposals but he hoped this provided a good background and context to what was 
now in front of the Committee. Officers therefore recommended that the application 
was approved subject to the recommendation on the agenda, and he handed over to 
Mr Herbert to take them through the proposals in more detail. 

The Case Officer, Ross Herbert, introduced the report to Members and said that the 
application had been referred to the committee due to S106 Agreement.



5

Ross Herbert went through some of the key plans and said that the site had been part 
of adopted policy for some time. He went through the proposed development summary 
and said that it was a hybrid application.

He said that the application included outlined and detailed plans including a community 
hub and showed the main points of access. He showed parameter plans, one which 
showed movement where pedestrians and cyclists were given priority in hierarchy. He 
said that it was a mixed-use development with the community hub in the centre, at the 
heart of the development. He said that it worked with the landscape-led masterplan to 
provide multi-functional open space.

Ross Herbert showed a hydrology parameter plan with on-site sustainable drainage 
solutions. He said that the pumping station would come into action after the first 100 
homes were built. He said that building heights ranged from 2-storey to 4-storey. He 
indicated where the reptile receptor site would be.

He said that there were full details of Phase 1 and that it was a high-quality scheme. 
He said that there were 122 affordable houses in Phase 1 and that there was more 
parking than the current standards required. He said that the refuse plan had also 
been agreed for Phase 1.

Ross Herbert said that the houses would be built from a variety of materials and 
showed street scenes which showed different character across the site. He showed 
what the proposed gateway would look like.

He said that offsite junction improvements would be undertaken following transport 
assessments. He said that LA3 would not add Highway traffic and said that it would 
improve some areas. He said that there would be widening of some roads to provide 
additional lanes and he went through emergency access to the site as well as passing 
bays.

Ross Herbert then showed different viewpoints of the site and said that the hedgerows 
were being retained. He said that there would be different identity areas under the 
Urban Design Framework. He showed artist’s impressions of the gateway, community 
hub, rural edge and valley area and Pouchen Park.

He said that it had been a summary of conclusions and was on balance after 2 years 
of work. He said that the recommendation was to DELEGATE the application WITH A 
VIEW TO APPROVAL.

Councillor Fiona Guest spoke in objection of the application.

She said that a lot of questions had been raised that had not been answered. She said 
that the SUDs to prevent flooding were welcome but that she knew of a previous site 
that had not been maintained which flooded. She asked who would be responsible for 
the maintenance.

Councillor Fiona Guest said that it had been stated that connecting with surrounding 
areas would increase biodiversity. She asked how this would be achieved.

She said that the report stated that there had been no recorded incidences of flooding 
but that she was aware of local accounts of flooding and that records needed to be 
rechecked.



6

Councillor Fiona Guest said that the woodland entrance was good but raised concerns 
about ancient and important trees being lost.

She noted section 9.13 of the report and raised concerns about the wildlife corridor not 
being wide enough. She also noted paragraph 9.13.30 of 3 species of tree to be 
planted. She said that the report did not state the location and proximity of these trees 
raising concerns about root damage, in addition to concerns about tree species that 
attract aphids.

Councillor Fiona Guest asked about the displacement of birds with the S106 
agreement and whether a site had been identified.

She said that there were concerns about there not being enough water for the site. 
She asked how this would be alleviated and whether there would be enough water for 
residents. She also questioned the capacity of the sewer.

Councillor Fiona Guest recommended that the application was deferred or refused.

Councillor Graeme Elliot spoke in objection of the application.

He introduced himself as a Ward Councillor for Chaulden and Warners End. He said 
that he would speak about traffic congestion in relation to the application. He said that 
it would result in an extra 2,500 vehicles and would cause an increase in rush hour 
traffic. He said that the surrounding roads could not cope with 900 homes, let alone 
1,100. He said that the pressures anticipated were even greater at 44%. He said that 
the transport assessment proposed mitigations, for example on Fishery Road, and that 
he understood that they were trying to get people out of their cars. He raised concerns 
about the traffic of Camelot Rugby Club. He also said that there were cottages on the 
road with no footpaths and that the lane would lose character.

Councillor Graeme Elliot raised concerns about the surrounding roads becoming rat-
runs.

He noted policies about infrastructure, including mobile homes. He raised concerns 
about the separate access to the gypsy and traveller site creating a ‘them and us’ 
scenario.

Councillor Graeme Elliot asking for the Committee to defer the application in order to 
receive an up to date traffic assessment. 

Philip Hughes and Lee Royal of WHAG spoke in objection of the application.

They said that there were more homes on the application than originally identified and 
that the infrastructure was not adequate for Phase 1. They raised concerns about 
schools and that 150 children from Phase 1 would need school places. They said that 
there were no details or timetable about the surgery and that overcapacity would be to 
the detriment of the existing community.

Philip Hughes and Lee Royal raised concerns about Chaulden Lane and that access 
was supposed to be stopped. 

They noted the idea of an ‘inclusive community’ but questioned the separate entrance 
to the gypsy and traveller site and suggested it being accessed through the central 
spine road.



7

Philip Hughes and Lee Royal drew attention to the County Council’s policy on rural 
roads and said that the application would disrupt the rural character of Chaulden Lane.

They said that driving was a nightmare already and that junction improvements were 
not enough and raised concerns about the pressure on local services.

Philip Hughes and Lee Royal asked the committee to defer the application.

John Mawer and Michael Pritchard spoke in objection of the application on behalf of 
Bourne End Village Association.

John Mawer said that they had gone along with the masterplan but that this was not 
what was presented. He said that gypsy and traveller sites were complex and there 
was the risk of causing alienation and antagonism.

He referenced CS22 and ‘inclusion’ and said that gypsies and travellers wanted and 
should have access to health, education and other services. He also referenced the 
Equalities Act and quoted Councillor Andrew Williams.

John Mawer continued that Councillor Andrew Williams had said that gypsy and 
traveller sites should be part of developments and not bolted onto the edge. John 
Mawer raised concerns about access to this site and stated that the footpath does not 
provide ‘inclusion’.

He added that the development would be ripping apart Chaulden Lane. 

John Mawer emphasised the importance of engaging travellers and asked the 
Committee to vote against the officer recommendation.

Michael Pritchard stated that all dwellings have an impact on traffic and that this would 
feed into Winkwell resulting in rat-runs for the A41 and the A425. He said that 
developments causing rat-runs should be resisted. He added that the widening of 
roads and the increased volume and speed of traffic did not preserve the nature of 
rural roads.

Mr Michael Ridley spoke in objection of the application on behalf of Dacorum 
Environment Forum.

He said that the application did not comply with the Core Strategy and reference CS10 
and CS26.

Mr Michael Ridley raised concerns about the wildlife corridor and the consultation with 
Martin Hicks, Herts Ecology. Mr Michael Ridley said that this was not a wildlife corridor 
and that one could be achieved if there was not an increase in dwellings from 900 to 
1,100.

He raised concerns about swift-boxes and hedgehog gaps.

Mr Michael Ridley also asked about sustainable housing and carbon neutralising.

He said that there were inadequate plans to decrease congestion.

Mr Michael Ridley referenced CS31(e) concerning extra demand for water and 
referred to the motion at Council regarding chalk streams.



8

Carol Elvin spoke in objection of the application.

She said she was not against the building of housing in principle but that she had 
concerns about the main access road and said that the gradient was 16% when the 
maximum adoptable gradient for rural roads is 10%. She said that this was a breach of 
health and safety.

Carol Elvin said that a 25-30m entrance would mean taking down hedgerows and said 
that a stretch of more than 20m of hedgerow was protected by common law.

She said that there was no explanation as to the location of the gypsy and traveller 
site.

Carol Elvin said that the widening of Chaulden Lane gave no consideration of 
surrounding areas.

John Kelly of Taylor Wimpey and Andy Moore of Barratt David Wilson spoke in support 
of the application.

They said that they wanted to build a successful and sustainable community. They 
said that timing needed to be carefully managed, for example, the school opening after 
the completion of the first phase, as advised by County.

John Kelly and Andy Moore said that the surgery was going to be expanded. They said 
that they were making a contribution of £10.5million to infrastructure.

They said that they would be providing a range of homes in line with 40% affordable 
homes. They said that the site would be extensively landscaped including play areas.

John Kelly and Andy Moore said that the site would be rich in wildlife and that there 
would be a biodiversity net gain.

They said that there would be a 7-pitch gypsy and traveller site with dedicated access 
from Chaulden Lane and improvements and laybys on this road. They said that they 
had been working with the Liaison Officer in sourcing a registered provider for these 
pitches.

John Kelly and Andy Moore said that there would be cycling and footpath routes 
throughout the site and that bus routes would be established with contributions from 
them. They said that incentives would be introduced for car sharing and subsidised 
bikes and bus tickets. They also said that there would be improvements of existing 
roads and that contributions would be made to County to avoid rat-runs following a 
traffic assessment.

John Kelly and Andy Moore thanked the Chair and Committee for the opportunity.

Housing

Councillor Beauchamp queried the residential care home and asked whether the 70 
units were part of Phase 1 and whether this brought the total number of units up to 
350.

Ross Herbert said that the residential care home was in the community hub which is 
not in Phase 1 and that it was indicative. He clarified that the residential care home 
had 70 beds and that this was not 70 units.



9

Councillor Beauchamp asked for clarification if the residential care home was part of 
the wider scheme.

Ross Herbert confirmed that it was and that 70 referred to the number of beds not 
dwellings.

Councillor Stevens asked about the scale of the houses and that most were 2-storey, 
some were 2.5-storey and some were 3.5-storey. He asked about the reference to 4-
storey buildings and also asked whether the 15m-high building was the sports hall. He 
asked whether a condition could be added at the end to confirm that building heights 
would not be used as a precedent.

Ross Herbert said that the Phase 1 dwellings were mainly 2-storey and that the 4-
storey buildings were in and around the community hub which was following urban 
design principles as the hub was at the heart of the site. He said that the vast majority 
of building heights were 2.5-storey and that taller buildings were along key roads or 
points. He said that the 15m was the sports hall specification at schools.

Councillor Uttley asked about the consternation about the change from 900 dwellings 
to 1,100.

James Doe said that this was to do with master-planning which outlined a minimum 
number of dwellings and that from the proposal to the application architects provide 
more detail on the number of dwellings that could be provided on a site. He continued 
that an application could not be rejected based on the number of dwellings alone and 
that the Committee had to make a decision based on what was in front of them and 
whether this would cause harm.

Councillor Hobson said that knowing why the number had increased could make it 
easier to make a decision.

Councillor Stevens asked about the dwelling space at the south of the site.

Ross Herbert said that there was not enough time to go through everything in the 
presentation as the detail is in the report.

Councillor Woolner asked about the south-east corner called Horse’s Field and what 
had happened to it.

James Doe said that it was not owned by the applicants and was not part of the 
application to be considered.

Councillor Stevens said that one of the respondents had asked why no land had been 
allocated for self-builds.

James Doe said that there was not a policy on self-builds and that this was to be 
picked up through the NPPF.

Design 

No questions or comments were asked specifically on design, these were covered in 
the housing questions



10

Transport

Councillor Hobson said she used the road around the site and was struck by the 
consistency of concerns raised. She referred to the access on Chaulden Lane and 
asked why it has to be separate and why hedgerows had to be moved. She asked 
about the gypsy and traveller site and access to this. She also asked about congestion 
and what the boundaries were in terms of making a decision and her concerns about 
grid-locked roads. She asked whether the site was within tolerances of what is 
acceptable regarding traffic. She also raised cycle routes and noted that there were 
none to the station or to town. She said that these were important issues and asked 
whether the Committee had any authority about what was outside of the application 
site.

James Doe said that regarding the parameters of making a decision they could not 
address current problems and could only mitigate them. He said that under the 
disciplines of the Core Strategy this related to traffic sites and pressure. He said that in 
a larger development it can be accommodated. He added that Hertfordshire County 
Council were supporting the scheme.

Nick Gough, HCC Highways Development Manager for S & W Hertfordshire, explained 
that the benchmark or bar when assessing the impact of the road network came from 
the NPPF paragraph 109 and that this only prevented applications concerning 
Highway Safety and whether the impact in traffic terms was likely to be severe. He 
said that in terms of safety they studied accident data. He said that congestion could 
be an issue and there were ways in which planning inspectors judged ‘severe’ but that 
there was no government guidance on this. He said that at individual junctions there 
was no severe impact. He said that the likely impact of the development would be that 
the junctions would be busy at peak hours. He added that in order to mitigate he 
development a substantial contribution would be made towards buses etc. He said that 
it was important to make connections, for example, with bus routes and that this would 
serve as mitigation on the highway network. Nick Gough also mentioned other projects 
HCC are working on separate to this proposal. 

Councillor Hobson thanked James Doe and Nick Gough for being clear. She said that 
cycling was a no-brainer as the pathways would be wide and that she would 
recommend having cycle paths.

Councillor Beauchamp asked about the delivery of large mobile homes along 
Chaulden Lane as he said that the lane narrowed significantly towards the gypsy and 
traveller site. He said that he was aware that the movement of traveller sites happened 
every 3-4 years. He asked how this could be mitigated and how the mobile homes 
would be offloaded. He also raised vehicle access on Chaulden Lane and suggested a 
width restriction to avoid large vehicles going down the lane. He added that Pouchen 
End Lane was less than 4m in width and that it narrowed to 2m. He suggested 
preventing vehicles going down the lane. He asked whether the footpaths were 
designated and queried other forms of transport. He said that the Chiltern Way was not 
suitable for cyclists, horses etc. currently and asked about future footpaths.

Nick Gough said that laybys and passing places had been designed to enable 4x4s to 
go down Chaulden Lane and access the gypsy and traveller site. He said that there 
would probably be police escorts or road closures for delivery of the mobile homes. He 
added that regarding turning, it was possible for this to be modelled by computer as 
part of the design process. He said that they had met Bourne End Village Association 
concerning Pouchen End Lane and Chaulden Lane. He said that the applicants would 
be making a payment to HCC Highways for any Traffic Regulation Order that might be 



11

needed to back up the traffic management scheme for Winkwell that they are 
investigating.

Councillor Beauchamp said that mobile homes were significantly wide. He said that he 
wanted footpaths to only be for pedestrians or segregated for pedestrians.

Ross Herbert said that concerning public rights of way he was satisfied with the 
footpaths and that their function was going to be very different than they were 
currently. He said that they would encourage walking and cycling and that they would 
not be bridleways or deregulated. He said that there were many benefits of improving 
footpaths.

Councillor Beauchamp asked if they would be remaining as footpaths and public rights 
of way.

Ross Herbert confirmed that they would remain as footpaths and public rights of way 
and that there would be some cycleways.

Councillor McDowell asked whether the wildlife corridor on the Chiltern Way was being 
upgraded and asked whether it would be paved.

Ross Herbert said that the Chiltern Way was outside of the application site and that 
there would be no upgrade to this. He said that it would be part of a wider corridor. He 
said that more footpaths that cross the site would be upgraded.

Councillor McDowell asked for clarification on the contribution towards bus routes.

Nick Gough said that this had been calculated to support extensions of the current bus 
networks and would include new bus stops. He said that this would be until there was 
enough patronage to enable the service to become viable and that it would be 
subsidised.

Councillor McDowell asked about the location of the gypsy and traveller site.

Nick Gough said that Highways did not have a view on this and were only asked if the 
access would work.

Councillor McDowell asked if Chaulden Lane would be widened.

Nick Gough said that laybys would be put in.

Councillor Oguchi asked about the mitigation of traffic if there was to be an extra 2000 
cars. She said that she understood that the application site was designed in a way that 
people do not have to use cars. She noted that if buses ran the same as buses do in 
Hemel Hempstead now then it would not work and what more could be done?

Nick Gough said that nothing more could be offered than what was in the application. 
He added that, concerning the wider area that this was the busiest part of 
Hertfordshire but that this was beyond the scope of the discussion. He said that the 
scheme had been in gestation for a long time. He said that the HCC countywide 
comment traffic model (TRICS data) was being updated and that developments were 
being assessed in great detail. He said that the applicant had employed transport 
consultants from a traffic assessing authority and that they had looked at rush hours. 
He said that the figure of 2000 cars and the idea that everyone would be driving in the 
morning was an assumption and that many people worked from home now. He said 



12

that assessments had been based on other similar developments measuring actual 
traffic and involving calculations to predict the likely change in traffic. He said that 
mitigations and improvements were to reduce the impact so that it was not severe. He 
added that discussions about the Plough roundabout were beyond this development.

James Doe said that car usage was high and that transport modelling recognises this. 
He said that the Council would be working together with South West Herts on the 
growth and transport plan, spate to this planning application. He added that the new 
Local Plan on sustainability would also look at this again separate to this planning 
application.

Councillor Oguchi said that if plans were still in the works why they could not wait until 
there were solid plans.

James Doe said that there was a pressing housing need now and that work with 
Highways will continue and that the application tonight was realising a policy objective 
that had already been agreed.

Councillor Stevens said that residents from Bourne End had raised concerns about the 
increased traffic through Winkwell and the worry about it becoming a rat-run. He added 
that as the development would progress slowly this would be incremental and not 
huge, or all at once. He asked about the roads on the site itself and how much of this 
would be adopted by highways and how much would be privately owned.

Nick Gough said that Hertfordshire County Council only adopts roads that are I public 
interest and that they would only be adopting link roads and character areas and not 
individual roads and cul-de-sacs and that these would be under management 
companies.

Councillor Stevens said that he knew of another developments where the roads were 
very narrow. He noted that the growth of traffic would be phased with around 110 
houses being built a year which he said was fairly modest.

Nick Gough said that developers are advised to build all roads to adoptable standards.

Sara Whelan said that the width of the roads would come under reserved matters.

James Doe said that there was planning in terms of the application in front of the 
Committee that night but some of the discussions were regarding planning in the long-
term future.

Councillor Wyatt-Lowe said that Hertfordshire County Council only adopts major roads 
and that new developers source management companies in managing smaller roads. 
She said that this was not an unusual arrangement, for example at Swallowfields.

Councillor Woolner asked for clarification with Highways on the gradient at the access 
to the G&T site.

Nick Gough said that drawings have convinced them that the gradient will not be 
anything like 16%.

Councillor Beauchamp asked about the entrance on Chaulden Lane and asked 
whether the road would be elevated to prevent flooding referencing concerns about a 
maintenance programme to prevent flooding.



13

Ross Herbert said that this was a main primary road and would have a causeway 
effect. He said that as there would be a bus route that County would adopt this road. 
He added that due to the raised entrance there was no flood risk.

Councillor Beauchamp asked whether the main road would be adopted including the 
maintenance of this.

Nick Gough confirmed that Highways would be responsible for the maintenance of the 
drainage and the road.

James Doe said that concerning the main entrance this was about two separate 
things, one being adoption of roads and the other being open spaces. He added that 
further maintenance detail would be given at a later stage after the Committee 
meeting.

Councillor Hobson asked about the Chaulden Lane access and her discomfort over 
this. She questioned the safety of its other uses for walkers and cyclists. She 
suggested the option to enable big transits to temporarily access Chaulden Lane but 
that it would be closed for everyday traffic and that all other traffic should go through 
the main site.

Ross Herbert said that there was no ability to change the access point as it was part of 
the detail of the scheme. He said that they had consulted with the Gypsy and Traveller 
Liaison Officer regarding inclusivity and that he had said that the gypsy and traveller 
culture meant that they wanted to be connected to facilities which were part of the LA3 
development but they also wanted privacy. He said that the masterplan showed the 
gypsy and traveller site with a separate access point. He added that the access was 
part of Phase 1.

Sara Whelan said that the masterplan included the location of the emergency access 
and that this was always subject to Highways.

The meeting adjourned at 9:11pm.

The meeting reconvened at 9:23pm.

Councillor Wyatt-Lowe said that as a County Councillor gypsy and traveller inclusion 
had been under her remit and she said that the officer reported directly to her. She 
said that gypsies and travellers do want to be educated and want to be near shops and 
other facilities but that they also wish to retain their own identity. She said that the 
majority of gypsies and travellers liked to be part but apart. She said that the best thing 
to do was to respect that wish.

Councillor Hobson said that the gypsy and traveller site was far removed from the 
main site and that for road access they would have to go all the way around.

Councillor Uttley said that she did not know why the access location was chosen. She 
said it gave the sense of partial integration and wished to understand this.

Councillor Wyatt-Lowe said that she had been speaking more generally from her 
experience.



14

Councillor Uttley referred to the buses being prioritised and the bus route being 6.7m 
wide. She asked about on-street parking and safety concerning this and asked 
whether there would be laybys for buses.

Nick Gough said that the detailed locations of bus stops were still to be determined but 
that parking would be arranged around buses and routes.

Councillor Uttley asked for clarification on the bus route being introduced at the end of 
Phase 1.

Ross Herbert said that the developers would be upgrading existing bus stops within 
400m of the site before full occupation and enough patronage for the bus route to 
penetrate.

Councillor Uttley asked how strict they were regarding the 400m and whether the bus 
route would be delivered in a timely manner.

Nick Gough said that one of the main targets was bus accessibility.

Gypsy and Traveller Site

Councillor Woolner asked about the pumping station, whether it was underground and 
what the effect of it would be.

Ross Herbert said that the pumping station was an above ground facility and that it 
was located at the lowest part of the site. He said that additional capacity was required 
for the site. He said that the pumping station would follow national guidance of a 15m 
minimum buffer zone to existing dwellings. He said that the pumping station more than 
met the guidance. He added that the impact on future dwellings would come under a 
reserve matter.

Councillor Hobson asked whether the gypsy and traveller pitches would also be 
outside the 15m buffer zone.

Ross Herbert confirmed that they would be and that this was indicative and would be 
addressed when laying out where the pitches would be.

Councillor McDowell asked whether there had been a previous consultation with 
gypsies and travellers and asked what their requirements were.

Ross Herbert said that gypsies and travellers had the same access to consultation as 
any other member of the public. He added that the Gypsy and Traveller Liaison Officer 
had been involved in pre-application discussions.

Councillor McDowell asked whether the officer had been involved in discussions 
relating to the widening of Chaulden Lane.

Ross Herbert said that the Gypsy and Traveller Liaison Officer could not comment on 
Highways and that Highways were responsible for this.

Councillor Hobson raised Councillor Adeleke’s concerns about gypsy and traveller 
integration with Bourne End Community rather than with the LA3 community.



15

Ross Herbert said that there were more forms of movement than just by car and that 
the gypsy and traveller site was part of the LA3 site. He said that the masterplan had 
been designed to integrate the site with LA3.

Councillor Uttley asked about the distance of pitches from the railway and estimated 
this to be around 50m.

Ross Herbert said that he did not have the actual measurements but agreed that it was 
close. He said that the Environmental Community Protection Officer was satisfied with 
noise impacts and that this would be subject to conditions.

Councillor McDowell said that he was struggling to believe that the gypsy and traveller 
site would be integrated and said that this was not a material reason.

Provision of Non-Residential Development

Councillor Hobson asked about the medical facility.

Ross Herbert said that it was part of the adopted masterplan and that this would be a 
satellite GP surgery or a contribution to expand the closest GP surgery. He said that 
the CCG NHS England would much prefer an expansion of Parkwood Drive and 
ensuring a suitable contribution for this. He said that the original proposal was for 
either a satellite surgery or for expansion of an existing surgery.

Councillor Beauchamp asked about the development of Parkwood Drive in relation to 
the phased development.

Ross Herbert said that the trigger points were still being negotiated but that the 
contribution had been agreed.

James Doe said that the expansion was the preferred route of CCG NHS England and 
that it was up to them to decide. He said that this was a separate matter to be 
resolved.

Councillor Uttley asked about the school and the timings of this.

Ross Herbert said that there was no education expert from County present but that it 
was a balancing act to be struck. He said that the County Council would be delivering 
the school and that they want there to be enough residents to support a viable school. 
He said that this came under trigger points but that funds would be delivered while 
Phase 1 was happening. He said that the school would open when there were 
sufficient children living on the development. He said that £8.9million would be 
provided to the education authority and providing funding and places at close schools 
in the meantime.

Councillor Hobson asked whether a management company or the Council would be 
adopting the public spaces. She asked if all options were being discussed and whether 
this came under reserved matters. She gave the example of the community centre and 
the running of this.

Ross Herbert confirmed that discussions would take place once the community had 
been adequately established and that the developer or other could adopt this and that 
options were being discussed.



16

Councillor Stevens asked about primary school places and whether County was 
making the decision for initial residents. He also asked about the standards on amenity 
space and how it stacked up concerning sports spaces.

Ross Herbert said that this was covered in the report and that concerning open space, 
there was substantially more than the current policy required, however, the topography 
does not allow for formal sports pitch. He said that the NEAP and LEAP would be 
constructed by standards agreed by the Council and had been agreed with the Clean, 
Safe and Green team.

Councillor Stevens asked about the shortage of football pitches.

Ross Herbert asked if Councillor Stevens was referring to a formal sport space.

Councillor Stevens confirmed that he was.

Ross Herbert said that the topography does not allow for formal sports pitch the 
proposal would include an off-site contribution to improve existing facilities as part of 
S106.

Councillor Uttley asked about the community gardens and orchards and asked what 
would happen if no-one adopted the assets.

Ross Herbert said that this would have to be in reserved matters in terms of 
management and who this would be and what function this would have. He said the 
S106 and reserved matters would not let the assets be abandoned.

Environmental Considerations

Councillor McDowell referred to the 800 new trees being planted and 300 protected. 
He said that there was supposed to be one new tree per dwelling to equal 1,100.

Ross Herbert said that there were a large number of trees and that this was part of the 
indicative phase. He said that this was part of the green infrastructure strategy. He 
said that the amount of trees planted included substantial hedgerows.

Councillor McDowell noted CS29 (j) and (h).

Ross Herbert said that they were assessing the scheme in accordance with the current 
development plan and that the Local Plan was coming but they had to use the 
masterplan as it was a live plan.

Luke Johnson, Dacorum Trees and Woodlands Team Leader, said that the number of 
trees will be increased and that the figure previously mentioned did not include trees in 
the green corridors.

Councillor McDowell asked about chalk streams and there not being enough water. He 
asked how 1,100 houses were to be accommodated with water.

Ross Herbert said that this would come under the informatives and conditions and that 
both Affinity Water and Thames Water had to be contacted by the developers. He said 
that hydrology had been assessed and that it would not impact the Bulbourne Valley in 
a negative way and would be part of conditions. He said it had been deemed 
acceptable with the Environment Agency and the flooding authority.



17

James Doe stated that Affinity Water had said that there was sufficient water for the 
area.

Councillor Uttley asked about the difference between green area and where the off-site 
ecology improvement would be.

Ross Herbert said that this was subject to negotiation and S106. He said that 
mitigation had been identified and funding secured and that Hertfordshire Ecology 
agree.

Sara Whelan invited Luke Johnson to comment on lime trees.

Luke Johnson said that the lime tree was a native tree species but other native species 
could be planted.

Councillor Oguchi asked about the drains and who was going to manage this.

Ross Herbert said that the pumping station would meet adoptable standards and 
whoever adopted the public open space would be responsible for SUDs. He said that 
foul water came under Thames Water.

Councillor Oguchi said that whoever adopts, then maintains.

Councillor Beauchamp asked about the existing wildlife and whether the fences that 
will border properties would have gaps for wildlife to use.

Ross Herbert confirmed that they would, including hedgehog holes and swift and bat 
boxes. He said that the developers were incorporating these and would be sought in 
conditions.

Councillor McDowell asked about the outline permission in relation to the Climate 
Emergency. He said they should be asking for more efficient homes and hoped they 
would exceed what building control were asking. He asked if this was something that 
could happen.

James Doe said that there was a remaining 750 dwellings from the outline and that if 
this was after the Local Plan was adopted then new policies would apply at that time.

Councillor Wyatt-Lowe stated that as a Council they are all totally committed to 
environmental concerns and that standards will rise.

Councillor Hobson asked about birds being displaced and whether an alternative 
location had been found.

Ross Herbert said that an alternative location had not yet been found but that they 
were looking for one and that this would probably be a landowner to negotiate with. He 
said that Martin Hicks, ecology consultant, had been involved in discussions regarding 
new planting and hedgerows.

Councillor Stevens asked about the energy on site and referred to CS 18 and 16 and 
district heating schemes.

Ross Herbert said that the site does not include this. He said that consideration was to 
be given to what the developers had put forward and that bigger sites would include 
this.



18

Councillor Hobson said that she understood that the Committee had to consider what 
was in front of them but asked about the access on Chaulden Lane.

Ross Herbert said that the access points were part of the full detailed scheme. He said 
that another access would need its own planning permission.

Councillor Hobson asked for clarification that the access could not be changed.

Sara Whelan said that the access point was part of the plan.

Councillor Hobson asked if the path could be changed to a road as a new access 
point.

Sara Whelan said that if the applicants were to change this a new application would be 
needed.

Councillor McDowell asked if the officer recommendation, to delegate with a view to 
approval, meant that things could be added.

Councillor Wyatt-Lowe said that suggestions would be taken on board to be 
considered.

Sara Whelan said that any conditions would have to be clarified. She clarified that in 
approving the proposal this would include granting consent for all vehicles to access 
the Gypsy and Traveller site to Chaulden Lane.

Councillor McDowell suggested granting access to Chaulden Lane for the gypsy and 
traveller site large vehicles only.
 
Councillor Hobson said that she would suggest a condition limiting access only for the 
gypsy and traveller site. She said it was important to work with the community in 
making sure it worked for everybody.

Councillor Hobson clarified that the mobile homes were to use Chaulden Lane to get in 
and then for bollards to go up so that there was no access at all. She said that cars 
should go through the LA3 site to access the gypsy and traveller site.

The meeting adjourned at 10:23pm.

The meeting reconvened at 10:31pm.

Sara Whelan said that Chaulden Lane with Councillor Hobson’s suggestion would still 
require passing lanes. She said that Highways information submitted and assessed to 
support the application was based on daily access. She said that a change to this 
would be a material change to the application. She requested that the applicants were 
asked to respond to this.

Councillor Wyatt-Lowe asked the developers to come forward to speak.

Nargis Sultan confirmed that the Chair was perfectly entitled to ask the applicant to 
come forward for clarification.



19

The developers, John Kelly and Andy Moore, said that they were prepared to accept 
Councillor Hobson’s suggestion on the basis that it was looked at in reserved matters 
and was not made a condition.

Sara Whelan clarified that the suggestion would be considered but that it would not 
form a condition and wanted to clarify this for Members. She said that they would be 
making a decision on what was in front of them, including access for all vehicles 
associated with gypsy and traveller site.

Councillor Hobson said that some developments were constructed from one access 
and then this access was closed.

Sara Whelan said that this would not be the case with this proposal.

Councillor Stevens asked about the Winkwell junctions and wanted assurance from 
County that they would be revisiting Pouchen End Lane to Chaulden Lane regarding 
weight restrictions and speed restrictions.

Nick Gough said that those matters would be in the scope of the investigation.

Councillor McDowell asked whether there would be a condition that the only access to 
the gypsy and traveller site was from Chaulden Lane.

Sara Whelan confirmed this.

Councillor McDowell asked about the involvement of Affinity Water.

Sara Whelan said that this would be an informative.

Councillor Wyatt-Lowe stated the importance of considering all material matters.

It was proposed by Councillor Uttley and seconded by Councillor Beauchamp to 
DELEGATE the application WITH A VIEW TO APPROVAL in line with the officer’s 
recommendation.

Vote:

For: 6        Against: 2     Abstained: 2      

Resolved: That planning permission be DELEGATED TO THE GROUP MANAGER 
OF DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT WITH A VIEW TO APPROVAL, subject to the 
completion of a S106 Agreement and agreement of final planning conditions.

The Meeting ended at 10.46 pm


